Human Reproduction Update, Vol.21, No.3 pp. 340-352, 2015

Advanced Access publication on February 9, 2015 doi:10.1093/humupd/dmv007

human reproduction update

Gap junction connexins in female reproductive organs: implications for women's reproductive health

Elke Winterhager^{1,*} and Gerald M. Kidder²

¹Institute of Molecular Biology, University of Duisburg-Essen, University Clinics, 45211 Essen, Germany ²Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, The University of Western Ontario and Children's Health Research Institute, London, Ontario N6C 2V5, Canada

*Correspondence address. E-mail: elke.winterhager@uk-essen.de

Submitted on October 24, 2014; resubmitted on January 14, 2015; accepted on January 20, 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- Introduction: the connexin family of proteins
- Methods
- · Connexin involvement in development of the germ line
- Connexin involvement in oogenesis
- · Connexin involvement in implantation and decidualization
 - Uterine receptivity Implantation Decidualization
- Connexin involvement in placental development and function
- Implications for women's reproductive health
 Fertility
 Endometrial function
 - Pregnancy
- Conclusion

BACKGROUND: Connexins comprise a family of \sim 20 proteins that form intercellular membrane channels (gap junction channels) providing a direct route for metabolites and signalling molecules to pass between cells. This review provides a critical analysis of the evidence for essential roles of individual connexins in female reproductive function, highlighting implications for women's reproductive health.

METHODS: No systematic review has been carried out. Published literature from the past 35 years was surveyed for research related to connexin involvement in development and function of the female reproductive system. Because of the demonstrated utility of genetic manipulation for elucidating connexin functions in various organs, much of the cited information comes from research with genetically modified mice. In some cases, a distinction is drawn between connexin functions clearly related to the formation of gap junction channels and those possibly linked to non-channel roles.

RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS: Based on work with mice, several connexins are known to be required for female reproductive functions. Loss of connexin43 (CX43) causes an oocyte deficiency, and follicles lacking or expressing less CX43 in granulosa cells exhibit reduced growth, impairing fertility. CX43 is also expressed in human cumulus cells and, in the context of IVF, has been correlated with pregnancy outcome, suggesting that this connexin may be a determinant of oocyte and embryo quality in women. Loss of CX37, which exclusively connects oocytes with granulosa cells in the mouse, caused oocytes to cease growing without acquiring meiotic competence. Blocking of CX26 channels in the uterine epithelium disrupted implantation whereas loss or reduction of CX43 expression in the uterine stroma impaired decidualization and vascularization in mouse and human. Several connexins are important in placentation and, in the human, CX43 is a key regulator of the fusogenic pathway

from the cytotrophoblast to the syncytiotrophoblast, ensuring placental growth. CX40, which characterizes the extravillous trophoblast (EVT), supports proliferation of the proximal EVTs while preventing them from differentiating into the invasive pathway. Furthermore, women with recurrent early pregnancy loss as well as those with endometriosis exhibit reduced levels of CX43 in their decidua. The antimalaria drug mefloquine, which blocks gap junction function, is responsible for increased risk of early pregnancy loss and stillbirth, probably due to inhibition of intercellular communication in the decidua or between trophoblast layers followed by an impairment of placental growth. Gap junctions also play a critical role in regulating uterine blood flow, contributing to the adaptive response to pregnancy. Given that reproductive impairment can result from connexin mutations in mice, it is advised that women suffering from somatic disease symptoms associated with connexin gene mutations be additionally tested for impacts on reproductive function. Better knowledge of these essential connexin functions in human female reproductive organs is important for safeguarding women's reproductive health.

Key words: connexin / gap junction / oogenesis / implantation / placental function

Introduction: the connexin family of proteins

The connexins are a family of homologous proteins (20 in mice, 21 in humans), each of which is the product of a distinct gene (Söhl and Willecke, 2003). Connexins differ greatly in size, providing a convenient method of distinguishing them: connexin23 (CX23), for example, is the smallest of the mammalian connexins at ${\sim}23\,kD$ and connexin62 (CX62) is the largest at \sim 62 kD. The gene family for mice and humans is divided into five subgroups based on sequence similarity; see http ://www.genenames.org/ for the human genes and http://www.infor matics.jax.org/ for the mouse genes (Abascal and Zardoya, 2013). Their best known function is to form the intercellular membrane channels of gap junctions, structures which allow for direct sharing of inorganic ions and small molecules between cells in a process known as gap junctional intercellular communication, or GIIC. Six connexins oligomerize to form a connexon or gap junction hemichannel (Fig. 1). When connexons in the plasma membrane of one cell dock end-to-end with connexons in the plasma membrane of an adjacent cell, solute-permeable intercellular channels are formed. A dense array of such intercellular channels joining two cells is termed a gap junction plaque. All connexins have four membrane-spanning domains forming the channel, two extracellular loops that serve as docking domains, a cytoplasmic loop and cytoplasmic N- and C-terminal tail segments which contain sites that are involved in the regulation of channel function (Harris, 2001; Söhl and Willecke, 2003; Yeager and Harris, 2007). Sequence similarity among connexins is concentrated in their transmembrane domains and extracellular loops, whereas most of the sequence and length variation resides in their cytoplasmic loops and C-terminal tails.

Although each connexin has a characteristic distribution among different cell types, their distributions overlap because many cells express more than one member of the family. Because of this, the potential diversity of channel types can be further magnified by the existence of heteromeric connexons, formed by co-oligomerization of different connexins, and heterotypic intercellular channels, formed by end-to-end docking of connexons with different connexin composition (Meşe *et al.*, 2007; Koval *et al.*, 2014; Fig. 1). Gap junction channels comprising different connexins can exhibit widely different properties with regards to ionic conductance, solute permeability, or sensitivity to regulatory factors such as pH, transjunctional voltage, and phosphorylation, diversity that



Figure I Schematic representation of connexins and gap junction channels. Connexins oligomerize to form hexameric connexons in the plasma membrane, which dock end-to-end with connexons from adjacent cells to form intercellular gap junction channels. (**A**) Each individual connexin has an N-terminal cytoplasmic tail (NT), four transmembrane domains (TM1-4), two extracellular loops (docking domains, ELI and 2), a cytoplasmic loop (CL) and a C-terminal cytoplasmic tail (CT). (**B**) The permeability properties of gap junction channels depend on their connexin composition: channels can be (1) homomeric-homotypic, (2) homomeric-heterotypic or (3) heteromeric-heterotypic.

provides for exquisite control of the selectivity and regulation of intercellular metabolic coupling (Harris 2001, 2007; Meşe *et al.*, 2007; Harris and Contreras, 2014). Furthermore, connexin diversity implies that channels formed of different connexins play distinctive developmental or physiological roles. On the other hand, the significance of connexin diversity is still not fully understood since mouse connexin knockins (where the gene encoding one connexin has been inserted into the genome in replacement of the gene encoding a different connexin) and double knockouts have revealed unique functions in some instances and shared functions in others (Houghton *et al.*, 1999; Kirchhoff *et al.*, 2000; Plum *et al.*, 2000; White, 2003; Simon *et al.*, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2007).

To further complicate matters, it has become increasingly clear that at least some connexins play important roles in cells independent of their ability to form intercellular gap junction channels. For example, several connexins (most notably CX43) have been shown to reside in the plasma membrane as undocked connexons which can provide a conduit for the regulated exchange of certain metabolites and small signalling molecules between the cytoplasm and extracellular environment (reviewed by Evans et al., 2006). The inner mitochondrial membrane is another reported location for undocked CX43 connexons, in this case their proposed function being to facilitate K^+ flux across that membrane (Miro-Casas et al., 2009). Connexins also participate in multiprotein complexes involving other proteins, including cytoskeletal components (Laird, 2010; Hervé et al., 2012; Palatinus et al., 2012). For example, the C-terminal cytoplasmic tail of several connexins contains a PDZ motif-binding domain that links the connexin to ZO1, ZO2, and/or ZO3, components of the membrane-cytoskeletal complex associated with adherens and tight junctions (Penes et al., 2005; Laird, 2010). To explore the importance of this PDZ-binding domain, Maass et al. (2004) generated germline replacement mice in which CX43 lacked the domain. The mutant connexin retained the ability to form functional gap junction channels but despite this, most of the homozygous mutant offspring died shortly after birth due to disruption of their epidermal permeability barrier. This result implies an essential role in epithelial integrity for at least this particular connexin based on its PDZ-binding domain. CX43 is also a well-established regulator of cell proliferation, and this too can be independent of its ability to form membrane channels (Hatakeyama et al., 2013). Notably, the C-terminus of CX43 can be as effective as the full-length protein in suppressing cell growth (Moorby and Patel, 2001). In communication-deficient glioma and trophoblast tumour cells, restoration of gap junctions by transfection of CX43 significantly reduced proliferation in association with up-regulation of the growth regulator, CCN3 (Fu et al., 2004; Gellhaus et al., 2004). CCN is an acronym derived from the first three discovered members of its family: cysteine-rich 61 (CYR61, CCN1), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF, CCN2), and nephroblastoma-overexpressed (NOV, CCN3) (Winterhager and Gellhaus, 2014). CCN3 binds to the C-terminus of CX43, an interaction correlated with a drastic reduction in proliferation (Sin et al., 2009; Gellhaus et al., 2010). CX43 constructs lacking the PDZ domain interact more intensely with CCN3 causing them to be more effective in reducing proliferation (Gellhaus et al., 2010). Other recent experiments have revealed a role for CX43 in cell motility due to its ability to stabilize the polarized alignment of the cytoskeleton, a function requiring the tubulin-binding domain of CX43 but independent of its ability to form gap junctions (Francis et al., 2011).

Mutations in various human connexin genes have been implicated in several distinct disease syndromes, each with a unique pathophysiology (Molica *et al.*, 2014). Corresponding mouse models have been generated and have proved valuable for elucidating pathways of pathogenesis (Dobrowolski and Willecke, 2009). However, with the knowledge that connexins can play multiple roles in cellular function, it is important to exercise caution in interpreting the results of experiments with genetically altered mice where the mutant phenotype is often ascribed to loss of GJIC but may in fact be due to disruption of a different connexin function (Dobrowolski and Willecke, 2009). This caveat should be kept in mind when considering the involvement of connexins in the development and function of the female reproductive system as summarized in the next sections.

Methods

Up until the present time, there has not been a systematic review of the literature pertaining to the role of gap junction connexins in female reproductive organs. In this review, literature from the past 35 years was surveyed for information related to connexin involvement in the development and function of the female reproductive system including the ovary, the endometrium during implantation and decidualization, and in the developing placenta. Where possible, a distinction is drawn between connexin functions clearly related to the formation of gap junction channels and those possibly linked to non-channel roles. Most of the results come from research with genetically modified mice where the genetic manipulation elucidated specific connexin functions in female reproductive organs. These results are correlated with findings from research with human cell lines and patient tissue samples and reference is made to patient populations with known connexin-based diseases (connexinopathies) where reproductive impairment is a possible component of the disease syndrome that is worthy of closer scrutiny.

Connexin involvement in development of the germ line

The mammalian germ line is established very early, separate from establishment of the gonadal rudiments and the events of sex determination, necessitating a phase of migration during which primordial germ cells (PGCs) make their way into the gonadal ridges (Mamsen et al., 2012). Connexin involvement in this early stage of germ line development was established with the production of the first connexin knockout mouse. Mice lacking CX43 die shortly after birth, their demise being caused by a severe developmental heart defect that obstructs blood flow into the pulmonary arteries (Reaume et al., 1995). A survey to look for additional morphological abnormalities in CX43 knockout fetuses revealed a severe reduction in the number of germ cells in both sexes that was evident as early as 11.5 days of gestation, before sex determination, although the small number of oocytes remaining in the fetal ovaries was sufficient to initiate follicle formation (Juneja et al., 1999). PGCs are coupled with neighbouring cells via CX43 gap junctions during their migration (Francis and Lo, 2006) but it is not yet clear whether it is the loss of this coupling and/or loss of a non-channel function of CX43 that accounts for the germ cell deficiency. Subsequent research demonstrated that the early deficiency of PGCs is associated with a decrease in their integrin-mediated cell adhesion, a decrease in their rate of motility, and an increase in their rate of apoptotic cell death (Francis and Lo, 2006) all of which could result in an impairment of PGC migration and survival. The possibility of a GIIC-independent role for CX43 in PGC migration/survival is supported by the finding that there is no germ cell deficiency in $G a l^{Jrt} / +$ mice expressing a dominant loss-of-function mutant of CX43 (CX43^{G60S}) which is structurally intact but provides only very weak intercellular coupling (Flenniken *et al.*, 2005; Gregory *et al.*, 2011).

Connexin involvement in oogenesis

The ovarian follicles of mammals typically consist of a single oocyte surrounded by layers of somatic granulosa (cumulus and mural) and theca cells. Follicles pass from a non-growing (primordial) stage through primary (unilaminar) and secondary (multilaminar) growing stages, finally becoming tertiary follicles characterized by a fluid-filled cavity, the antrum. The oocyte grows along with the follicle prior to antrum formation, eventually acquiring competence to undergo first meiosis at ovulation and be fertilized. Throughout these stages of folliculogenesis, gap junctions couple the granulosa cells with each other and with the oocyte, establishing a metabolic syncytium that is essential for oogenesis (reviewed by Kidder and Vanderhyden, 2010; see Fig. 2). Research with mice has demonstrated that nutrients (including amino acids and glucose) to support the growing oocyte's metabolism, ions to regulate the oocyte's pH, and cGMP required to maintain the oocyte in a state of meiotic arrest all pass from the granulosa cells to the oocyte through the gap junctions of that syncytium. At the time of ovulation, GJIC



Figure 2 At least two different connexins contribute to gap junctions in ovarian follicles. In the mammalian ovary, extensions of the cumulus granulosa cells (trans-zonal projections) extend across the zona pellucida to contact the oocyte surface, where gap junctions form to metabolically couple the two cell types. Other gap junctions couple the cumulus cells with each other. Based on extensive experiments with mice, the gap junctions at the oocyte surface in growing follicles are homomeric-homotypic junctions composed of CX37 (pink) whereas those coupling the cumulus cells with each other are homomeric-homotypic junctions composed of CX43 (blue). Connexins 37 and 43 are also expressed in human follicles with CX43 being the dominant connexin forming gap junctions in the cumulus cells but the exact composition of the cumulus-oocyte gap junctions in human follicles remains to be determined. In both species, additional connexins have been detected in the granulosa cells of mature follicles.

between the oocyte and granulosa cells is attenuated, reducing the cGMP level in the oocyte thus allowing it to complete meiosis (Norris et al., 2008, 2009; Santiquet et al., 2012, 2013; Wigglesworth et al., 2013).

The distribution of different connexins in the ovary has been examined in a variety of mammals (reviewed by Kidder and Mhawi, 2002 and Gershon et al., 2008a; see also Teilmann 2005, Willingham-Rocky et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2009 and Santiquet et al., 2013). CX37 and CX43 have been consistently identified in the gap junctions of both growing and mature follicles but in different locations (Fig. 2). Additional members of the family have been detected in ovarian follicles of mice and various other species but gene targeting experiments in the mouse have failed to establish clear roles for any of them in oogenesis or folliculogenesis, either because the knockout females remained fertile (CX32, Nelles et al., 1996) or they died in utero (CX26, Gabriel et al., 1998; CX45, Krüger et al., 2000 and Kumai et al., 2000). On the other hand, mouse gene knockouts have made it clear that both CX37 and CX43 are essential from early in follicle growth (Kidder and Vanderhyden, 2010). In mouse ovaries, CX37 localizes to gap junctions at the oocyte surface and is thereby responsible for oocyte-granulosa cell metabolic coupling whereas CX43 connects the granulosa cells with each other (Simon et al., 1997; Gittens and Kidder, 2005; Fig. 2). Both the oocyte and the granulosa cells express CX37 but the granulosa cells target it to contacts with the oocyte at the tips of the trans-zonal projections, leaving CX43 to form gap junctions that couple the granulosa cells with each other (Veitch et al., 2004). When the Gja4 gene encoding CX37 was knocked out, GIIC between the oocytes and granulosa cells was eliminated with severe consequences for the oocytes: they ceased growing without acquiring meiotic competence and eventually degenerated, presumably as the result of their having been metabolically uncoupled from the granulosa cells (Simon et al., 1997). Concomitant with loss of the oocytes, the granulosa cells of CX37 null ovaries underwent premature luteinization. It is therefore possible that CX37 gap junctions at the oocyte surface convey not only metabolites from the granulosa cells needed by the oocyte but also one or more signals from the oocyte to maintain the differentiated state of the granulosa cells, preventing them from luteinizing before ovulation.

Because of the neonatal lethality caused by germline knockout of CX43 (Reaume et al., 1995), analysis of oogenesis in this mutant required grafting late fetal ovaries into the kidneys of adult females to follow the effect of the mutation on post-natal follicle development, a procedure which also allowed the mutant ovaries to develop post-natally in a wildtype endocrine background. It was found that loss of CX43 causes follicle development to arrest before antrum formation (Ackert et al., 2001; Gittens and Kidder, 2005; Tong et al., 2006). As a consequence, oocytes from CX43 null females are developmentally incompetent. Subsequent experiments revealed that the impaired growth of follicles lacking CX43 is due at least in part to reduced responsiveness of the granulosa cells to the oocyte-derived paracrine factor, growth differentiation factor 9 (GDF9), which promotes granulosa cell proliferation (Gittens et al., 2005). Such interplay between gap junctional coupling and receptor-mediated signalling within growing follicles is likely a general phenomenon (Wang et al., 2013).

Although the available evidence does not support an essential contribution of CX43 to the gap junctions connecting oocytes with granulosa cells in the mouse, a surprising result was obtained when the G_{jal} gene was specifically knocked out in oocytes: embryos derived from the

CX43-depleted oocytes developed to the blastocyst stage in apparently normal fashion as would have been predicted, but some failed to implant (Gershon et al., 2008b). One possible explanation for this is that a nonjunctional pool of CX43 in the oocyte contributes to post-fertilization implantation competence in such a way that the deficiency in the CX43-depleted oocytes could not be overcome by expression of the *Gja1* gene from the zygote genome (Davies et al., 1996). It remains to be determined what non-junctional role oocyte-derived CX43 plays in post-fertilization development.

In addition to providing for gap junction-based metabolic coupling among the granulosa cells, CX43 could support oogenesis by forming undocked connexons (gap junction hemichannels) in the granulosa cell plasma membranes. Such channels could allow the regulated release of small signalling molecules such as ATP, which is known to be released from cells upon opening of CX43 hemichannels (Leybaert et al., 2003), to interact with receptors on nearby cells, thus establishing a paracrine signalling pathway. In developing follicles, extracellular ATP acts through P2 purinergic receptors to induce Ca²⁺ release from the granulosa cells, resulting in a corresponding Ca^{2+} increase in the oocyte (Tai et al., 2000; Webb et al., 2002). Given this information, it was considered possible that the essential function of CX43 in folliculogenesis is to enable paracrine signalling via ATP release rather than (or in addition to) providing for GIIC. This possibility was examined by Tong et al. (2007), who constructed recombinant follicles by combining wildtype mouse oocytes with granulosa cells expressing a mutant form of CX43 which was able to form functional hemichannels in the plasma membrane but not capable of docking to form intercellular gap junction channels. The result was that follicles constructed from granulosa cells exclusively assembling CX43 hemichannels failed to support folliculogenesis, implying that there is an absolute need for CX43 to form intercellular gap junction channels in mouse granulosa cells. The role of CX43 hemichannels, if any, in folliculogenesis remains to be determined.

The PDZ-binding domain is another part of the CX43 molecule that plays an important role in oogenesis. In the study by Maass *et al.* (2004) cited above, very few mice homozygous for the PDZ-binding domain deletion survived as newborns. Those few females that did survive were infertile: follicles began to show morphological irregularities in early antral stages and none reached the size of pre-ovulatory follicles. Interestingly, as with CX37 knockout follicles (Simon *et al.*, 1997), premature luteinization was noted in association with the presence of degenerating oocytes. At present, there are no published data to explain why the PDZ-binding domain of the CX43 molecule is critical for oocyte survival but the answer could shed light on the failure of blastocysts derived from CX43-depleted oocytes to implant (Gershon *et al.*, 2008b).

CX37 and CX43 are also expressed in human follicles (Furger et al., 1996; Cepni et al., 2008; Ratchford et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009). Studying cultured cumulus cells, Wang et al. (2009) found that CX43 forms prominent gap junctions but CX37 was not detected, suggesting that it is restricted to the cumulus-oocyte interface in intact human follicles, as it is in the mouse. It is not clear whether the several other connexins detected in that study (CX26, CX30, CX30.3, CX32, and CX40) assemble into follicular gap junctions *in vivo*. The importance of CX43 as a major contributor to gap junctions in human cumulus cells was confirmed by demonstrating that the level of CX43 expression is positively correlated with the strength of intercellular coupling measured electrophysiologically.

Connexin involvement in implantation and decidualization

Uterine receptivity

During cycling and in early pregnancy, the hormonally regulated transformation of the mammalian endometrium is needed to achieve endometrial receptivity for embryo implantation and placentation, and connexins are intimately involved in this process. The expression and hormonal regulation of endometrial connexins has been studied in a variety of species including ruminants, rodents, rabbits, baboons and humans (see below). In the cycling endometrium of rodents, the uterine epithelium is characterized predominantly by expression of CX26 whereas in the endometrium of humans and baboons during the menstrual cycle, CX32 is strongly co-expressed with CX26 (Winterhager et al., 1993; Jahn et al., 1995). In all species investigated, CX43 is only expressed in the stromal compartment (Jahn et al., 1995; Winterhager et al., 2009). The expression levels of CX26 and CX43, but not of CX32, are ruled by the ovarian hormone profile during cycling and upon experimentally induced estrogen or progesterone dominance in ovariectomized rodents: both CX26 and CX43 expression increase upon estrogen administration and are suppressed by progesterone during the phase of receptivity to the implanting blastocyst (Winterhager et al., 1993; Grümmer et al., 1994). Surprisingly, the rodent and rabbit uterine epithelium lacks detectable GJIC during this critical phase (Winterhager et al., 1988, 1993). In human endometrium, the ratio between progesterone and estrogen levels in serum determines the level of expression of both connexins resulting in high expression in the proliferative phase and strong down-regulation in the secretory phase (Jahn et al., 1995).

Implantation

Successful implantation requires not only an endometrium appropriately transformed by ovarian steroid hormones but also a preimplantation embryo (blastocyst) competent to engage in precise crosstalk with the endometrium via various signals. This crosstalk produces a local developmental programme change in the endometrium to establish the implantation chamber (Wang and Dey, 2006). In rodents and rabbits, the suppression of connexin expression and GIIC during the receptive phase is reversed by local up-regulation in response to the implanting embryo: where an embryo is present, there is strong expression of CX26 (in rodents) and CX32 (in rabbits) in the uterine epithelium immediately surrounding it (Winterhager et al., 1988, 1993). Given that estrogen induces CX26 expression, experiments were conducted to test the hypothesis that it is estradiol or a closely related estrogen, presumably released from the blastocyst, which is responsible for the local connexin up-regulation (Grümmer et al., 2004). On the contrary, antiestrogen treatment of pregnant rats during implantation did not interfere with CX26 up-regulation in the epithelium. This result was confirmed in the same study using mice lacking either the α or the β estrogen receptor (ER): the up-regulation of CX26 was clearly missing in ER α knockout mice but still present in ERB knockout mice demonstrating that an estrogenic response mediated by $ER\alpha$ regulates the connexin expression pattern during cycling but is not required for implantation itself. However, the local up-regulation of CX26 was not impaired in pseudopregnant (i.e. hormonally primed) animals after a traumatic stimulus mimicking the implanting blastocyst, indicating that it is not simply a mechanical stimulus by the blastocyst that causes CX26 up-regulation. Further experiments with pseudo-pregnant uteri in organ culture revealed that the implanting blastocyst mediates up-regulation of CX26 in the uterine epithelium by means of an inflammatory cascade (Grümmer *et al.*, 2004).

To explore the importance of CX26-containing membrane channels for implantation, Diao et al. (2013) injected the non-specific channel blocker carbenoxolone (CBX) into mice before embryo attachment. CBX disrupted the implantation process, presumably by inhibiting the local increase in CX26 channel function induced by the blastocyst, but this experimental treatment also disturbed the decidualization process. It therefore remains uncertain whether CX26 or gap junctionbased intercellular communication in the uterine epithelium is essential for implantation in the mouse. Recent experiments with mice in which the Gjb2 gene encoding CX26 was specifically deleted in the uterine epithelium failed to reveal any obvious effect on implantation (E. Winterhager, unpublished results).

Decidualization

Experiments with animal models have indicated that perturbations of connexin function within the implantation chamber disrupt early pregnancy. Impaired uterine receptivity concomitant with failure to decidualize the endometrial stroma is one of the major reasons for implantation failure (Cha et al., 2012). The decidual cells are extensively connected by gap junctions which, in rodents and humans, are mainly composed of CX43 (Abrahamsohn and Zorn, 1993; Winterhager et al., 1993; Jahn et al., 1995; Pauken and Lo, 1995). GJIC among the decidual cells is thought to play an important role in decidual angiogenesis. To confirm this, the Gial gene encoding CX43 was specifically deleted in the mouse uterine stroma with the result that differentiation of the stromal cells into decidual cells was impaired (Laws et al., 2008). Expression of pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) and angiopoietin was reduced, resulting in reduced angiogenesis and a loss of embryos at implantation. Similar results have been obtained using cultured human endometrial stromal cells where knockdown of CX43 or disruption by a gap junctional coupling inhibitor impaired decidualization as well as secretion of prolactin and VEGF (Laws et al., 2008, Yu et al., 2011). In contrast, decidual angiogenesis was not impaired but instead enhanced in mice carrying the dominant loss-of-function $G_{ja}I^{Jrt}$ mutant allele encoding CX43^{G60S} in which the level of CX43 is severely reduced (Flenniken et al., 2005; Winterhager et al., 2013). Enhanced angiogenesis in the implantation chambers of $\mathsf{CX43}^{\mathsf{G60S}}\text{-}\mathsf{expressing}$ females was correlated with increased expression of the genes encoding several angiogenic factors including VEGFA, VEGF receptor I (VEGFRI), and VEGFR2. The mutation was also associated with fetal growth restriction which was independent of the genotypes of individual fetuses developing in the same mother, implying a strictly maternal effect. Because of an irregular distribution of the maternal sinusoidal network in the mutant females, invasion of the trophoblast was disoriented and placentas developed mostly laterally (as opposed to centrally) in the implantation chamber, an effect that could potentially explain the fetal growth restriction (Winterhager et al., 2013).

It would be reasonable to conclude from the above studies that coupling of decidual cells via gap junction channels composed of CX43 influences the expression of paracrine factors that control neovascularization, but the stark differences between the effects of the stromal cell-specific

Gja I knockout and the global Gja I^{Jrt} mutation remain unexplained. One possibility is that the signals passing through CX43^{G60S} mutant channels differ from those passing through wildtype channels, a phenomenon that has been already observed for other connexin isoforms, e.g. CX31 in the placenta (Schnichels et al., 2007). However, the G60S mutation is not known to alter channel permeability properties but rather is predicted to reduce the total number of intercellular channels in apposed membranes due to impairment of connexon-connexon docking (Flenniken et al., 2005). In effect, therefore, the Gja l knockout and the Gja l^{frt} mutation both reduce the number of gap junction channels in decidual membranes, although to different extents. The explanation for the differing mutant phenotypes may therefore be that, rather than assembling into gap junctions, another function of the CX43 molecule-perhaps its participation in the membrane cytoskeletal complex via its C-terminal tail, which remains intact in the G60S mutant-may be the critical factor for decidual angiogenesis. In any case, the results from these mouse studies suggest that some problems in early pregnancy may have their origin in reduced or altered connexin function in the maternal side of the maternal-fetal interface, resulting in aberrant placental development despite the placental organ itself being intact.

Connexin involvement in placental development and function

Placental development starts in the preimplantation embryo during blastocyst formation when the embryonic cells separate into the inner cell mass, progenitor of the embryo proper, and the trophectoderm, generating the placenta, an event which represents the first lineage decision in embryonic development. Gap junction assembly occurs prior to this event: in the mouse it begins after completion of the third cleavage of the zygote with the result that the cells of the preimplantation embryo remain metabolically coupled thereafter (Lo and Gilula, 1979a). Interestingly, rodent and human preimplantation embryos express multiple connexin genes (reviewed by Kidder and Winterhager, 2001; Houghton, 2005; Brison et al., 2014). Of those connexins that have been localized by immunofluorescence to date, all are expressed in both the inner cell mass and the trophectoderm of the blastocyst; hence they are not at this early stage restricted to the trophoblast progenitors. Preimplantation embryos could potentially make use of several different types of gap junction channels, each permeable to a subset of molecules, but the knockout of individual mouse connexin genes has not yet revealed an essential role for any particular connexin in preimplantation development or implantation (Kidder and Winterhager, 2001). This could be ascribed to functional redundancy among connexin isoforms, but neither the double knockout of CX31 and CX43 (Kibschull et al., 2005) nor use of the non-specific gap junction channel blocker 18α -glycyrrhetinic acid to block GIIC altogether (Houghton et al., 2002) had any effect on the development of preimplantation embryos, implying that GIIC is not essential during this very early developmental period. It remains a mystery why preimplantation embryos express multiple connexins.

The ubiquitous expression pattern of connexins in the rodent blastocyst changes directly after implantation: co-expression of CX31 and CX31.1 comes to characterize the trophoblast lineage whereas CX43 and CX45 become restricted to the embryo proper (Dahl *et al.*, 1996; Reuss *et al.*, 1997). The separation of communication compartments (embryo versus placenta, with an apparent barrier to GJIC between them) shown previously by Lo and Gilula (1979b) and Kalimi and Lo (1989) may be explained by this distribution of connexins and could have a role in establishing positional information for cell differentiation. Human preimplantation embryos exhibit the same variety of connexin isoforms as mice with CX43 and CX31 dominating (Bloor *et al.*, 2004). Thus, although placental connexins differ between rodents and human (see below), these species share the same isoforms during the preimplantation period, pointing to an evolutionarily conserved developmental mechanism. As in rodents, the spatial pattern of connexin expression in the human placenta does not replicate the lineage separation seen in the blastocyst stage (Bloor *et al.*, 2004).

During the formation of the murine chorio-allantoic placenta, the labyrinth starts to differentiate to take over fetomaternal exchange. This process involves elongation of trophoblast cells from the chorion and fusion to form a two-layered syncytiotrophoblast in conjunction with chorionic mesoderm invasion and formation of embryonic blood vessels. The two syncytial trophoblast layers that form the placental barrier are connected with each other by dense arrays of CX26-containing gap junctions to establish a metabolically coupled unit (Shin *et al.*, 1996), the importance of which was demonstrated by the dramatic effect of deleting the *Gjb2* gene encoding that connexin (Gabriel *et al.*, 1998). Loss of CX26 resulted in an early embryonic death around day 10.5 which was caused by impaired transport of metabolites across the two-layered syncytial trophoblast as indicated by severely decreased glucose uptake by the embryo.

The functions of CX31 and CX31.1 in murine placental development have also been illuminated by targeted gene deletions (reviewed by Kibschull et al., 2008). Both knockouts had a direct influence on trophoblast lineage differentiation, the result of which was a partial loss of embryos between embryonic days 11.5 and 14.5:60% in CX31-deficient dams and 30% in CX31.1-deficient dams (Plum et al., 2001; Zheng-Fischhofer et al., 2007). Phenotypic analysis of the CX31-deficient placentas showed a transient, strong reduction of the labyrinthine and spongiotrophoblast layers and a shift to the parietal trophoblast giant cell population. The phenotype of CX31.1-deficient placentae includes a shift in placental subpopulations, a reduced area of fetal blood spaces, and a reduced number of secondary trophoblast giant cells. In contrast to CX31-deficient trophoblast stem (TS) cells, TS cells from CX31.1 knockout mice revealed enhanced proliferation and delayed trophoblast differentiation (Kibschull et al., 2014). These findings suggest that CX31.1 and CX31 exert opposite effects to balance trophoblast lineage differentiation during placental development. In addition, Dupressoir et al. (2011) reported that, although syncytin-B knockout mice displayed an impaired formation of syncytiotrophoblast layer II, the embryos survived in utero and, because the researchers found an up-regulation of the gene encoding CX30 (but not of that encoding CX26), they postulated that CX30 serves as a compensatory transport channel in the mouse placenta.

As mentioned above, the human placenta differs morphologically from that of rodents and other species in respect to the connexins involved in its development and function (Kibschull *et al.*, 2004, 2008). The functional analogue of the rodent labyrinthine trophoblast in the human placenta is the villous trophoblast, which consists of one syncytial layer (the syncytio-trophoblast) and an underlying cytotrophoblast (Fig. 3). The cytotrophoblast maintains the syncytiotrophoblast during pregnancy by continuous fusion with it (Benirschke *et al.*, 2006). Because there is only one syncytial



Figure 3 Different connexins characterize cell populations in the human placenta. The drawing represents a placental anchoring villus attached to the maternal decidua with the villous cyto- and syncytiotro-phoblast and the extravillous trophoblast of the cell column along with invading giant cells. CX43 is expressed in the cytotrophoblast and regulates the process of cytotrophoblast fusion to form the syncytial layer. CX40 is expressed in the proliferating cytotrophoblast cells of the cell column. The extravillous trophoblast cells stop proliferating and escape from the cell column to invade into the maternal decidua and the spiral arteries. CX40 has been shown to be involved in this trophoblast lineage differentiation leading to reduced proliferation and at the same time to increased migration properties. Adapted from Winterhager and Gellhaus (2014).

trophoblast layer in human, GJIC via CX26 channels is not necessary for transplacental transport as in rodents; instead, the underlying cytotrophoblast cells express CX43 which, as has been convincingly shown using *in vitro* systems, is mandatory for the fusion process (Cronier *et al.*, 1994, 2002, 2003). Investigations by Dunk *et al.* (2012) revealed that CX43 exerts this function via the transcription factor GCM1 and its downstream target HERV-W/syncytin-1 together with its receptor ASCT2. The CX43 C-terminal cytoplasmic tail is crucial for this regulatory action as evidenced by the observation that its removal prevented the connexin's interaction with either syncytin-1 or ASCT2, abrogating fusion. CX43 is therefore a key regulator of the fusogenic pathway, ensuring placental growth and controlling placental aging. It is still not clear if the CX43 channel contributes to transport across the placental barrier as indicated by *in vitro* experiments using multilayered trophoblast cell lines or placental explants (Sood *et al.*, 2011).

The EVT takes on the function of the mouse spongiotrophoblast in humans. These villi, which anchor the trophoblast cells to the decidua, form the cell columns and constantly generate giant cells (Georgiades et al., 2002). EVT cells detaching from the column escape from the cell cycle, achieve polyploidy, and invade into the spiral arteries to become endovascular trophoblasts or into the decidua to become interstitial EVT cells (Zybina et al., 2002). The endovascular trophoblast is essential to remodel the spiral arties in order to guarantee a continuous blood flow into the intervillous space of the placenta (Pijnenborg et al., 1991). The proximal EVT cells are characterized by CX40 expression which

terminates when the cells detach from the column to invade the decidual compartment (Winterhager et al., 2000; Fig. 3). The same expression pattern was found in the villous explant model in vitro and the malignant trophoblast cell lines BeWo and Jar, providing an experimental model for exploring the function of CX40 in trophoblast proliferation and invasion (Hellmann et al., 1996; Winterhager et al., 2000; Nishimura et al., 2004). Outgrowth of the EVT was strongly enhanced and proliferation was reduced when placental explants were treated with gap junctional coupling inhibitors or CX40 expression was knocked down using small interfering RNA, providing evidence that CX40 supports proliferation of the proximal EVTs while preventing them from differentiating into the invasive pathway (Nishimura et al., 2004). It is possible, therefore, that CX40 dysfunction could contribute to the shallow invasion of trophoblast cells found in pre-eclampsia (McMaster et al., 2004). In spite of this growing fund of information about the role of connexins in placental development and function, there is still much to be discovered about how they contribute to human placental diseases and pregnancy outcomes.

Implications for women's reproductive health

It is clear from the research described in the previous sections of this review that several connexins play essential roles in the development and/or function of the mammalian female reproductive system. Given this, it is likely that connexins are also important in women's reproductive health—indeed, it would be surprising if this were not the case. In this final section we summarize evidence pointing to important roles for connexins in human female reproduction and their possible involvement in reproductive problems.

Fertility

The critical role for cumulus cell CX43 in oogenesis, established using knockout and CX43^{G60S} mice, was the impetus for the study by Wang et al. (2009) cited above that was aimed at testing the importance of this connexin for human female fertility. Their study involved patients undergoing IVF by ICSI, a process which involves prior stripping of the cumulus cells from the oocyte to facilitate sperm injection, making the cells readily available for research to discover biomarkers of oocyte/ embryo competence. The researchers looked for an association between cumulus cell CX43 expression or gap junctional coupling strength and embryo quality, the latter indicated by morphological assessment of the embryos produced in vitro and the pregnancy outcomes after embryos had been transferred back into the patients' wombs. It was found that cumulus cell samples from different patients differed with respect to both CX43 expression and cumulus coupling strength. Most importantly, when patients were partitioned into subgroups depending on whether or not they became pregnant, those who did so registered significantly higher mean scores with respect to both CX43 expression and coupling strength within their cohort of retrieved follicles. These results imply that CX43 itself and/or the metabolic coupling which it provides within the cumulus-oocyte complex is a determinant of oocyte and embryo quality in women just as it is in mice. It is possible therefore, that inadequate expression or mutationally altered function of CX43 could contribute to human female infertility by reducing the number and/or quality of oocytes available to be ovulated. To date, however, none of the recognized syndromes involving primary ovarian

insufficiency, which involves premature cessation of ovarian function due to reduced oocyte reserve, have been linked to the *GJA1* gene (Zhao and Chen, 2013). On the other hand, there could be manifestations of subfertility associated with CX43 functional deficiency which remain unidentified. An example of this is provided by $Gja1^{Jrt}$ + female mice which remain fertile despite reduced CX43 in the granulosa cells, but ovulate fewer oocytes and thus produce smaller litters than wildtype littermates, even when mated with wildtype males (Tong et *al.*, 2009).

Examples of reproductive impairment in $Gial^{Jrt}$ + female mice bear special interest for women's reproductive health because those mice model the human dysmorphogenesis syndrome, oculodentodigital dysplasia (ODDD; Flenniken et al., 2005). ODDD is caused by some 73 different mutations in G|A|, most of them inherited as autosomal dominants (Paznekas et al., 2003, 2009; reviewed by Laird, 2014). As its name implies, this pleiotropic syndrome characteristically involves the eyes (along with other facial features), teeth, and digits but also affects many other parts of the human body where CX43 is expressed, with the different ODDD mutant alleles generating a range of impairments of differing severity. In addition to the $G ja l^{Jrt}/+$ mutant mouse line expressing CX43^{G60S}, additional lines have been generated to model the human CX43^{II 30T} and CX43^{GI 38R} ODDD mutants (Kalcheva et al., 2007; Dobrowolski et al., 2008). Although detailed analyses of reproductive function in those females have not been reported, they are, like CX43^{G60S} mutant females, fertile. Furthermore, there is only one report to date of a woman with ODDD having compromised fertility (early menopause, a symptom of primary ovarian insufficiency) associated with a GIA1 mutation (see Supplemental Table 5 in Paznekas et al., 2009). Given the prominent expression of CX43 in the human ovarian follicle, the correlation between CX43 expression and pregnancy success resulting from IVF, and the extensive evidence frommutant mice demonstrating the importance of this connexin for oogenesis, it is possible that there are many more women in the ODDD population with unrecognized subfertility. Additional indications of reproductive impairment in ODDD women could include delayed menarche and problems with placental function leading, for example, to intrauterine growth restriction. It is important to note that different ODDD mouse mutants can differ greatly in the severity of their effects on organ development and function despite being associated with the same diagnostic dysmorphogenesis features of the human ODDD syndrome (Stewart et al., 2013). Such variable expressivity among different mutant alleles would make it difficult to recognize reproductive problems as part of the ODDD syndrome in women.

CX37, by virtue of its expression in human oocytes, is another candidate for influencing women's fertility and this inference is also supported by research with mice: there is evidence that expression of this connexin is reduced, as is oocyte-cumulus GJIC, in a mouse model of type I diabetes (Ratchford *et al.*, 2008). It is possible, therefore, that CX37 insufficiency could contribute to the reproductive problems of diabetic women.

Endometrial function

Given its expression in the endometrium, CX26 is also likely to play roles in women's reproductive health. The gene encoding CX26 is very sensitive to estrogen administration (Grümmer et al., 1994). Interestingly, endometrial CX26 expression is not only highly sensitive to estrogen

| Connexinopathies | Mutated connexin | Possible female reproductive problems* |
|--|------------------|---|
| Congenital non-syndromic deafness; Vohwinkel syndrome; Bart-Pumphrey syndrome; keratitis-ichthyosis-deafness (KID) syndrome; palmoplantar keratoderma/hyperkeratosis | CX26 | Implantation failure and/or endometriosis susceptibility due to altered or inappropriate uterine epithelial cell development |
| X-linked Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease | CX32 | Endometriosis due to altered or inappropriate uterine epithelial cell development |
| Congenital atherosclerosis; congenital heart disease | CX37 | Difficulty conceiving due to impaired oocyte/follicle development |
| Congenital or idiopathic heart arrhythmia (atrial fibrillation) | CX40 | Pre-eclampsia due to reduced number of extravillous trophoblast cells and shallow invasion |
| Oculodentodigital dysplasia; Hallermann–Streiff syndrome; palmoplantar keratoderma; congenital heart malformations; congenital non-syndromic deafness | CX43 | Difficulty conceiving due to deficiency of oogonia and/or impaired oocyte/follicle development; endometriosis due to impaired decidualization; intrauterine growth restriction due to placental insufficiency; pre-eclampsia due to maladaptive uterine blood flow regulation |

Table I Women's reproductive problems potentially associated with inherited connexin-based diseases (connexinopathies).

Further information about connexin involvement in the listed diseases can be found in Dobrowolski and Willecke (2009).

*Possible reproductive problems likely to be more prevalent in women with a connexinopathy are suggested based on the localization of expression of the connexin within the human female reproductive tract and the consequences of loss of function mutations in female mice.

but also to the ER modulators raloxifen and tamoxifen and the phytoestrogen, genistein (Heikaus et al., 2002). The use of these drugs in breast cancer treatment or to alleviate symptoms of menopause could therefore contribute to changes in endometrial physiology. Another problem of concern is endometriosis, a benign endometrial disease which is accompanied by ectopic endometrial lesions growing outside the uterine cavity. Endometriosis is characterized by an altered genetic programme of the human eutopic endometrium at the time of uterine receptivity. This inappropriate differentiation is correlated with aberrant connexin expression in ectopic endometriotic lesions, with expression of CX43 in the epithelium, loss of CX32, and strongly reduced CX26 (Regidor et al., 1997). Such an aberrant expression pattern is also observed in baboon uteri with experimentally induced endometriosis resulting in a loss of CX26 and CX32 in the epithelium but an up-regulation of CX26 in the stromal cells (Winterhager et al., 2009). These altered connexin expression profiles indicate a loss of the appropriate differentiation programme of both the epithelial and stromal compartments of the primate uterus and may be a factor that contributes to endometriosis-associated infertility.

Pregnancy

The severe disruption of decidual angiogenesis in Gjal conditional knockout mice (Laws et al., 2008) and in mice harbouring the $Gjal^{Jrt}$ mutant allele (Winterhager et al., 2013) suggests the possibility that decidualization is a process early in human pregnancy that could be affected by aberrant expression or function of CX43. In humans, stromal decidualization has already been induced in the secretory phase of the menstrual cycle, with CX43 expression being a characteristic feature (Jahn et al., 1995). Nair et al. (2011) reported that women with recurrent early pregnancy loss exhibit significantly reduced levels of CX43 expression in their decidua. These findings were supported by Yu et al. (2014), who found a reduced level of CX43 in the endometrial stromal cells of women with endometriosis who suffer from subfertility. Primary cultures of the diseased stromal cells did not only reveal strongly

reduced CX43 expression but also they responded with a less pronounced transformation upon being induced to decidualize *in vitro*. Other evidence for linking CX43-based GJIC and aberrant decidualization comes from the use of mefloquine, an antimalarial drug that is also widely used as a potent blocker of GJIC (Cruikshank *et al.*, 2004; Nevin, 2011). Mefloquine is responsible for increased risk of early pregnancy loss and stillbirth as evidenced in several epidemiological studies (Smoak *et al.*, 1997; Irvine *et al.*, 2011; summarized by Nevin, 2012). These phenomena could be explained by inhibition of GJIC in the decidua. Alternatively, stillbirth under mefloquine treatment may be caused by the blockage of GJIC between cyto- and syncytiotrophoblast followed by an impairment of the fusion process.

It is well established that connexins are important regulators of the cardiovascular system, where gap junctions conduct the myocardial contraction waves underlying heart rhythm (reviewed by Lambiase and Tinker, 2014) and the endothelium-derived hyperpolarization waves that regulate arteriolar blood flow (reviewed by de Wit and Griffith, 2010 and Tyml, 2011). Indeed, connexin gene mutations have been linked to cardiac, arterial and lymphatic diseases (reviewed by Molica et al., 2014). With respect to pregnancy, recent studies have shown that CX43 gap junctions in the uterine vascular endothelium are an essential contributor to the adaptive response to pregnancy since they convey the cell-to-cell Ca²⁺ signals which underlie production of the vasodilator, nitric oxide (reviewed by Boeldt et al., 2011, 2014). Indeed, there is evidence that pre-eclampsia, a disease of pregnancy characterized by hypertension, is associated with phosphorylationinduced closure of CX43-based gap junction channels (Boeldt et al., 2011, 2014).

Conclusion

As summarized in this review, numerous connexins are expressed in mammalian female reproductive organs and when mutated or their expression is reduced or eliminated in mice, reproductive impairment or even outright infertility can result. It is thus surprising that there are no reports in the literature directly linking reproductive problems in women to connexin gene mutations. Whereas one would not expect every reproductive problem caused by a connexin mutation in mice to be phenocopied in the human population, there is generally good correspondence between mouse and human disease symptoms when considering connexin mutations affecting other parts of the body. Examples of this include the cochlea, where mutations in the mouse genes encoding CX26 and CX30 cause deafness (Cohen-Salmon et al., 2002; Teubner et al., 2003); the heart, where CX40 and CX43 mutations affect conductance of the contraction wave, resulting in arrhythmias (Simon et al., 1998; Bevilacqua et al., 2000; Kalcheva et al., 2007; Tuomi et al., 2011); the skeleton, where CX43 mutations are associated with a variety of deformities (Flenniken et al., 2005; Dobrowolski et al., 2008); and the nervous system, where CX32 mutations cause peripheral neuropathy (Anzini et al., 1997; Scherer et al., 1998). As summarized in Table I, women identified as suffering from the various recognized 'connexinopathies'diseases caused by connexin mutations-should be examined more closely for signs of reproductive impairment or complications of pregnancy, such as pre-eclampsia or intrauterine growth restriction, that could be associated with their genetic diagnosis. The ability to link specific connexin gene mutations with specific aspects of reproductive impairment is essential for better understanding the contributions of these proteins to women's reproductive health.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Dr Paul Dyce for his suggestions on the manuscript and to Jamie Simek for assistance with preparation of the figures.

Authors' roles

The authors conceived and wrote the manuscript jointly.

Funding

E.W. acknowledges support from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. G.M.K. acknowledges support from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

References

- Abascal F, Zardoya R. Evolutionary analyses of gap junction protein families. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1828:4–14.
- Abrahamsohn PA, Zorn TM. Implantation and decidualization in rodents. J Exp Zool 1993;**266**:603–628.
- Ackert CL, Gittens JEI, O'Brien MJ, Eppig JJ, Kidder GM. Intercellular communication via connexin43 gap junctions is required for ovarian folliculogenesis in the mouse. *Dev Biol* 2001;**233**:258–270.
- Anzini P, Neuberg DHH, Schnachner M, Nelles E, Willecke K, Zielasek J, Toyka KV, Suter U, Martini R. Structural abnormalities and deficient maintenance of peripheral nerve myelin in mice lacking the gap junction protein connexin 32. *Neurosci* 1997;17:4545–4551.
- Benirschke K, Kaufman P, Baergen R. Pathology of the Human Placenta. New York: Springer, 2006.

- Bevilacqua LM, Simon AM, Maguire CT, Gehrmann J, Wakimoto H, Paul DL, Berul CI. A targeted disruption in connexin40 leads to distinct atrioventricular conduction defects. J Interv Card Electrophysiol 2000;**4**:459–467.
- Bloor DJ, Wilson Y, Kibschull M, Traub O, Leese HJ, Winterhager E, Kimber SJ. Expression of connexins in human preimplantation embryos in vitro. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2004;2:25–34.
- Boeldt DS, Yi FX, Bird IM. eNOS activation and NO function: pregnancy adaptive programming of capacitative entry responses alters nitric oxide (NO) output in vascular endothelium—new insights into eNOS regulation through adaptive cell signaling. *J Endocrinol* 2011;**210**:243–258.
- Boeldt DS, Grummer MA, Magness RR, Bird IM. Altered VEGF-stimulated Ca2+ signaling in part underlies pregnancy-adapted eNOS activity in UAEC. *J Endocrinol* 2014;**223**:1–11.
- Brison DR, Sturmey RG, Leese HJ. Metabolic heterogeneity during preimplantation development: the missing link? *Hum Reprod Update* 2014;**20**:632–640.
- Cepni I, Kahraman N, Ocal P, Idil M, Uludag S. Expression and comparison of gap junction protein connexin37 in granulosa cells aspirates from follicles of poor responder and nonpoor responder patients. *Fertil Steril* 2008;**89**: 417–420.
- Cha J, Sun X, Dey SK. Mechanisms of implantation: strategies for successful pregnancy. Nat Med 2012; 18:1754–1767.
- Cohen-Salmon M, Ott T, Michel V, Hardelin J-P, Perfettini I, Eybalin M, Wu T, Marcus DC, Wangemann P, Willecke K *et al.* Targeted ablation of connexin26 in the inner ear epithelial gap junction network causes hearing impairment and cell death. *Curr Biol* 2002; **12**:1106–1111.
- Cronier L, Bastide B, Hervé JC, Deleze J, Malassiné A. Gap junctional communication during human trophoblast differentiation: influence of human chorionic gonadotropin. *Endocrinology* 1994;**135**:402–408.
- Cronier L, Defamie N, Dupays L, Théveniau-Ruissy M, Goffin F, Pointis G, Malassiné A. Connexin expression and gap junctional intercellular communication in human first trimester trophoblast. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2002;**8**:1005–1013.
- Cronier L, Frendo JL, Defamie N, Pidoux G, Bertin G, Guibourdenche J, Pointis G, Malassine A. Requirement of gap junctional intercellular communication for human villous trophoblast differentiation. *Biol Reprod* 2003;69:1472–1480.
- Cruikshank SJ, Hopperstad M, Younger M, Connors BW, Spray DC, Srinivas M. Potent block of Cx36 and Cx50 gap junction channels by mefloquine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2004;**101**:12364–12369.
- Dahl E, Winterhager E, Reuss B, Traub O, Butterweck A, Willecke K. Expression of the gap junction proteins connexin31 and connexin43 correlates with communication compartments in extraembryonic tissues and in the gastrulating mouse embryo, respectively. *J Cell Sci* 1996;109:191–197.
- Davies TC, Barr KJ, Jones DH, Zhu D, Kidder GM. Multiple members of the connexin gene family participate in preimplantation development of the mouse. *Dev Genet* 1996;**18**:234–243.
- de Wit C, Griffith TM. Connexins and gap junctions in the EDHF phenomenon and conducted vasomotor responses. *Pflugers Arch* 2010;**459**:897–914.
- Diao H, Xiao S, Howerth EW, Zhao F, Li R, Ard MB, Ye X. Broad gap junction blocker carbenoxolone disrupts uterine preparation for embryo implantation in mice. *Biol Reprod* 2013;89:31.
- Dobrowolski R, Willecke K. Connexin-caused genetic diseases and corresponding mouse models. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2009; 11:283–295.
- Dobrowolski R, Sasse P, Schrickel JW, Watkins M, Kim JS, Rackauskas M, Troatz C, Ghanem A, Tiemann K, Degen J et *al.* The conditional connexin43 G138R mouse mutant represents a new model of hereditary oculodentodigital dysplasia in humans. *Hum Mol Genet* 2008;**17**:539–554.
- Dunk CE, Gellhaus A, Drewlo S, Baczyk D, Pötgens AJ, Winterhager E, Kingdom JC, Lye SJ. The molecular role of connexin 43 in human trophoblast cell fusion. *Biol Reprod* 2012;86:115.
- Dupressoir A, Vernochet C, Harper F, Guégan J, Dessen P, Pierron G, Heidmann T. A pair of co-opted retroviral envelope syncytin genes is required for formation of the two-layered murine placental syncytiotrophoblast. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2011;**108**:E1164–E1173.
- Evans WH, De Vuyst E, Leybaert L. The gap junction cellular internet: connexin hemichannels enter the signalling limelight. *Biochem J* 2006;**397**:1–14.
- Flenniken AM, Osborne LR, Anderson N, Ciliberti N, Fleming C, Gittens JEI, Gong X-Q, Kelsey LB, Lounsbury C, Moreno L et al. A Gja1 missense mutation in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Development 2005;132: 4375–4386.

- Francis RJB, Lo CW. Primordial germ cell deficiency in the connexin43 knockout mouse arises from apoptosis associated with abnormal p53 activation. *Development* 2006; **133**:3451–3460.
- Francis R, Xu X, Park H, Wei CJ, Chang S, Chatterjee B, Lo C. Connexin43 modulates cell polarity and directional cell migration by regulating microtubule dynamics. *PLoS ONE* 2011;6: Article Number e26379.
- Fu CT, Bechberger JF, Ozok MA, Perbal N, Naus CC. CCN3 (NOV) interacts with connexin43 in C6 glioma cells: possible mechanism of connexin-mediated growth suppression. J Biol Chem 2004;279:36943–36950.
- Furger C, Cronier L, Poirot C, Pouchelet M. Human granulosa cells in culture exhibit functional cyclic AMP-regulated gap junctions. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1996;2:541–548.
- Gabriel H-D, Jung D, Bützler C, Temme A, Traub O, Winterhager E, Willecke K. Transplacental uptake of glucose is decreased in embryonic lethal connexin26deficient mice. J Cell Biol 1998; 140:1453–1461.
- Gellhaus A, Dong X, Propson S, Maass K, Klein-Hitpass L, Kibschull M, Traub O, Willecke K, Perbal B, Lye SJ et al. Connexin43 interacts with NOV: a possible mechanism for negative regulation of cell growth in choriocarcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 2004;279:36931–36942.
- Gellhaus A, Wotzlaw C, Otto T, Fandrey J, Winterhager E. More insights into the CCN3/Connexin43 interaction complex and its role for signaling. *J Cell Biochem* 2010;**110**:129–140.
- Georgiades P, Ferguson-Smith AC, Burton GJ. Comparative developmental anatomy of the murine and human definitive placentae. *Placenta* 2002;**23**:3–19.
- Gershon E, Plaks V, Dekel N. Gap junctions in the ovary: expression, localization and function. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 2008a;**282**:18–25.
- Gershon E, Plaks V, Aharon I, Galiani D, Reizel Y, Sela-Abramovich S, Granot I, Winterhager E, Dekel N. Oocyte-directed depletion of connexin43 using the Cre-LoxP system leads to subfertility in female mice. *Dev Biol* 2008b;**313**:1–12.
- Gittens JEI, Kidder GM. Differential contributions of connexin37 and connexin43 to oogenesis revealed in chimeric reaggregated mouse ovaries. *J Cell Sci* 2005; **118**:5071–5078.
- Gittens JEI, Barr KJ, Vanderhyden BC, Kidder GM. Interplay between paracrine signaling and gap junctional communication in ovarian follicles. *J Cell Sci* 2005; **118**:113–122.
- Gregory M, Kahiri CN, Barr KJ, Smith CE, Hermo L, Cyr DG, Kidder GM. Male reproductive system defects and subfertility in a mutant mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. *Int J Androl* 2011;**34**:e630–e641.
- Grümmer R, Chwalisz K, Mulholland J, Traub O, Winterhager E. Regulation of connexin43 and connexin26 in rat endometrium by ovarian steroid hormones. *Biol Reprod* 1994;51:1109–1116.
- Grümmer R, Hewitt SW, Traub O, Korach KS, Winterhager E. Different regulatory pathways of endometrial connexin expression: preimplantation hormonalmediated pathway versus embryo implantation-initiated pathway. *Biol Reprod* 2004;**71**:273–281.
- Harris AL. Emerging issues of connexin channels: biophysics fills the gap. *Q Rev Biophys* 2001;**34**:325–472.
- Harris AL. Connexin channel permeability to cytoplasmic molecules. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* 2007;**94**:120–143.
- Harris AL, Contreras JE. Motifs in the permeation pathway of connexin channels mediate voltage and Ca(2+) sensing. Front Physiol 2014; $\mathbf{5}$:113.
- Hatakeyama T, Dai P, Harada Y, Hino H, Tsukahara F, Maru Y, Otsuji E, Takamatsu T. Connexin43 functions as a novel interacting partner of heat shock cognate protein 70. Sci Rep 2013;3:2719.
- Heikaus S, Winterhager E, Traub O, Grümmer R. Responsiveness of endometrial genes connexin26, connexin43, c3 and clusterin to primary estrogen, selective estrogen receptor modulators, phyto- and xenoestrogens. J Mol Endocrinol 2002; 29:239–249.
- Hellmann P, Winterhager E, Spray D. Properties of connexin40 gap junction channels endogenously expressed and exogenously overexpressed in human choriocarcinoma cell lines. *Pflugers Arch* 1996;**432**:501–509.
- Hervé JC, Derangeon M, Sarrouilhe D, Giepmans BN, Bourmeyster N. Gap junctional channels are parts of multiprotein complexes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2012; 1818:1844–1865.
- Houghton FD. Role of gap junctions during early embryo development. *Reproduction* 2005; **129**:129–135.
- Houghton FD, Thönnissen E, Kidder GM, Naus CCG, Willecke K, Winterhager E. Doubly mutant mice, deficient in connexin32 and -43, show normal prenatal development of organs where the two gap junction proteins are expressed in the same cells. *Dev Genet* 1999;**24**:5–12.

- Houghton FD, Barr KJ, Walter G, Gabriel HD, Grümmer R, Traub O, Leese HJ, Winterhager E, Kidder GM. Functional significance of gap junctional coupling in preimplantation development. *Biol Reprod* 2002;**66**:1403–1412.
- Irvine MH, Einarson A, Bozzo P. Prophylactic use of antimalarials during pregnancy. *Can Fam Physician* 2011;**57**:1279–1281.
- Jahn E, Classen-Linke I, Kusche M, Beier HM, Traub O, Grümmer R, Winterhager E. Expression of gap junction connexins in the human endometrium throughout the menstrual cycle. *Hum Reprod* 1995;**10**:2666–2670.
- Juneja SC, Barr KJ, Enders GC, Kidder GM. Defects in the germ line and gonads of mice lacking connexin43. *Biol Reprod* 1999;**60**:1263–1270.
- Kalcheva N, Qu J, Sandeep N, Garcia L, Zhang J, Wang Z, Lampe PD, Suadicani SO, Spray DC, Fishman GI. Gap junction remodeling and cardiac arrhythmogenesis in a murine model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007; 104:20512–20516.
- Kalimi GH, Lo CW. Gap junctional communication in the extraembryonic tissues of the gastrulating mouse embryo. *J Cell Biol* 1989;**109**:3015–3026.
- Kibschull M, Nassiry M, Dunk C, Gellhaus A, Quinn JA, Rossant J, Lye SJ, Winterhager E. Connexin31-deficient trophoblast stem cells: a model to analyze the role of gap junction communication in mouse placental development. *Dev Biol* 2004; 273:63–75.
- Kibschull M, Magin TM, Traub O, Winterhager E. Cx3 I and Cx43 double-deficient mice reveal independent functions in murine placental and skin development. *Dev Dyn* 2005;**233**:853–863.
- Kibschull M, Gellhaus A, Winterhager E. Analogous and unique functions of connexins in mouse and human placental development. *Placenta* 2008;**29**:848–854.
- Kibschull M, Colaco K, Matysiak-Zablocki E, Winterhager E, Lye SJ. Connexin31.1 (Gjb5) deficiency blocks trophoblast stem cell differentiation and delays placental development. Stem Cells Dev 2014;23:2649–2660.
- Kidder GM, Mhawi AA. Gap junctions and ovarian folliculogenesis. *Reproduction* 2002; **123**:613–620.
- Kidder GM, Vanderhyden BC. Bidirectional communication between oocytes and follicle cells: ensuring oocyte developmental competence. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 2010;88:399–413.
- Kidder GM, Winterhager E. Intercellular communication in preimplantation development: the role of gap junctions. *Front Biosci* 2001;**6**:d731–d736.
- Kirchhoff S, Kim J-S, Hagendorff A, Thönnissen E, Krüger O, Lamers WH, Willecke K. Abnormal cardiac conduction and morphogenesis in connexin40 and connexin43 double-deficient mice. *Circ Res* 2000;87:399–405.
- Koval M, Molina SA, Burt JM. Mix and match: investigating heteromeric and heterotypic gap junction channels in model systems and native tissues. *FEBS Lett* 2014; **588**:1193–1204.
- Krüger O, Plum A, Kim J-S, Winterhager E, Maxeiner S, Hallas G, Kirchhoff S, Traub O, Lamers WH, Willecke K. Defective vascular development in connexin45-deficient mice. *Development* 2000;**127**:4179–4193.

Kumai M, Nishii K, Nakamura K, Takeda N, Suzuki M, Shibata Y. Loss of connexin45 causes a cushion defect in early cardiogenesis. Development 2000; 127:3501–3512.

- Laird DW. The gap junction proteome and its relationship to disease. *Trends Cell Biol* 2010;**20**:92–101.
- Laird DW. Syndromic and non-syndromic disease-linked Cx43 mutations. *FEBS Lett* 2014;**588**:1339–1348.
- Lambiase PD, Tinker A. Connexins in the heart. *Cell Tissue Res* 2014 (epub ahead of print).
- Laws MJ, Taylor RN, Sidell N, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP, Gutstein DE, Bagchi MK, Bagchi IC. Gap junction communication between uterine stromal cells plays a critical role in pregnancy-associated neovascularization and embryo survival. *Development* 2008; 135:2659–2668.
- Leybaert L, Braet K, Vandamme W, Cabooter L, Martin PEM, Evans WH. Connexin channels, connexin mimetic peptides and ATP release. *Cell Commun Adhes* 2003; **10**:251–257.
- Li TY, Colley D, Barr KJ, Yee S-P, Kidder GM. Rescue of oogenesis in Cx37 null mutant mice by oocyte-specific replacement with Cx43. J Cell Sci 2007; **120**:4117–4125.
- Lo CW, Gilula NB. Gap junctional communication in the preimplantation mouse embryo. *Cell* 1979a; **18**:399–409.
- Lo CW, Gilula NB. Gap junctional communication in the post-implantation mouse embryo. *Cell* 1979b;**18**:411–422.
- Maass K, Ghanem A, Kim JS, Saathoff M, Urschel S, Kirfel G, Grümmer R, Kretz M, Lewalter T, Tiemann K et al. Defective epidermal barrier in neonatal mice lacking the C-terminal region of connexin43. *Mol Biol Cell* 2004; 15:4597–4608.

- Mamsen LS, Brøchner CB, Byskov AG, Møllgard K. The migration and loss of human primordial germ stem cells from the hind gut epithelium towards the gonadal ridge. *Int J Dev Biol* 2012;**56**:771–778.
- McMaster MT, Zhou Y, Fisher SJ. Abnormal placentation and the syndrome of preeclampsia. Semin Nephrol 2004;24:540–547.
- Meşe G, Richard G, White TW. Gap junctions: basic structure and function. J Invest Dermatol 2007; 127:2516–2524.
- Miro-Casas E, Ruiz-Meana M, Agullo E, Stahlhofen S, Rodriguez-Sinovas A, Cabestrero A, Jorge I, Torre I, Vazquez J, Boengler K et al. Connexin43 in cardiomyocyte mitochondria contributes to mitochondrial potassium uptake. *Cardiovasc* Res 2009;**83**:747–756.
- Molica F, Meens MJ, Morel S, Kwak BR. Mutations in cardiovascular connexin genes. Biol Cell 2014; 106:269–293.
- Moorby C, Patel M. Dual functions for connexins: CX43 regulates growth independently of gap junction formation. *Exp Cell Res* 2001;**271**:238–248.
- Nair RR, Jain M, Singh K. Reduced expression of gap junction gene connexin 43 in recurrent early pregnancy loss patients. *Placenta* 2011;**32**:619–621.
- Nelles E, Bützler C, Jung D, Temme A, Gabriel H-D, Dahl U, Traub O, Stümpel F, Jungermann K, Zielasek J et al. Defective propagation of signals generated by sympathetic nerve stimulation in the liver of connexin32-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:9565–9570.
- Nevin RL. Mefloquine neurotoxicity and gap junction blockade: critical insights in drug repositioning. *Neurotoxicology* 2011;**32**:986–987.
- Nevin RL. Mefloquine gap junction blockade and risk of pregnancy loss. *Biol Reprod* 2012;**87**:1–9.
- Nishimura T, Dunk C, Lu Y, Feng X, Gellhaus A, Winterhager E, Rossant J, Lye S. Gap junctions are required for trophoblast proliferation in early human placental development. *Placenta* 2004;**25**:595–607.
- Norris RP, Freudzon M, Mehlmann LM, Cowan AE, Simon AM, Paul DL, Lampe PD, Jaffe LA. Luteinizing hormone causes MAP kinase-dependent phosphorylation and closure of connexin43 gap junctions in mouse ovarian follicles: one of two paths to meiotic resumption. *Development* 2008; **135**:3229–3238.
- Norris RP, Ratzan WJ, Freudzon M, Mehlmann LM, Krall J, Movsesian MA, Wang H, Ke H, Nikolaev VO, Jaffe LA. Cyclic GMP from the surrounding somatic cells regulates cyclic AMP and meiosis in the mouse oocyte. *Development* 2009;**136**:1869–1878.
- Palatinus JA, Rhett JM, Gourdie RG. The connexin43 carboxyl terminus and cardiac gap junction organization. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2012;**1818**:1831–1843.
- Pauken CM, Lo CW. Nonoverlapping expression of Cx43 and Cx26 in the mouse placenta and decidua: a pattern of gap junction gene expression differing from that in the rat. *Mol Reprod Dev* 1995;**41**:195–203.
- Paznekas WA, Boyadjiev SA, Shapiro RE, Daniels O, Wollnik B, Keegan CE, Innis JW, Dinulos MB, Christian C, Hannibal MC *et al*. Connexin43 (GJA1) mutations cause the pleiotropic phenotype of oculodentodigital dysplasia. *Am J Hum Genet* 2003; **72**:408–418.
- Paznekas WA, Karczeski B, Vermeer S, Lowry RB, Delatycki M, Laurence F, Koivisto PA, Van Maldergem L, Boyadjiev SA, Bodurtha JN et al. GJA1 mutations, variants, and connexin43 dysfunction as it relates to the oculodentodigital dysplasia phenotype. Hum Mutat 2009;30:724–733.
- Penes MC, Li X, Nagy JI. Expression of zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) and the transcription factor ZO-1-associated nucleic acid-binding protein (ZONAB)-MsY3 in glial cells and colocalization at oligodendrocyte and astrocyte gap junctions in mouse brain. *Eur J Neurosci* 2005;**22**:404–418.
- Pijnenborg R, Anthony J, Davey DA, Rees A, Tiltman A, Vercruysse L, Van Assche A. Placental bed spiral arteries in the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1991;98:648–655.
- Plum A, Hallas G, Magin T, Dombrowski F, Hagendorff A, Schumacher B, Wolpert C, Kim J-S, Lamers WH, Evert M et al. Unique and shared functions of different connexins in mice. *Curr Biol* 2000; 10:1083–1091.
- Plum A, Winterhager E, Pesch J, Lautermann J, Hallas G, Rosentreter B, Traub O, Herberhold C, Willecke K. Connexin31-deficiency in mice causes transient placental dysmorphogenesis but does not impair hearing and skin differentiation. *Dev Biol* 2001;231:334–347.
- Ratchford AM, Esguerra CR, Moley KH. Decreased oocyte-granulosa cell gap junction communication and connexin expression in a type I diabetic mouse model. *Mol Endocrinol* 2008;**22**:2643–2654.
- Reaume AG, De Sousa PA, Kulkarni S, Langille BL, Zhu D, Davies TC, Juneja SC, Kidder GM, Rossant J. Cardiac malformation in neonatal mice lacking connexin43. *Science* 1995;**267**:1831–1834.

- Regidor PA, Regidor M, Schindler AE, Winterhager E. Aberrant expression pattern of gap junction connexins in endometriotic tissues. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1997;**5**:375–381.
- Reuss B, Hellmann P, Traub O, Butterweck A, Winterhager E. Expression of connexin31 and connexin43 genes in early rat embryos. Dev Genet 1997;21:82–90.
- Santiquet NW, Develle Y, Laroche A, Robert C, Richard FJ. Regulation of gap-junctional communication between cumulus cells during *in vitro* maturation in swine, a gap-FRAP study. *Biol Reprod* 2012;87:46.
- Santiquet N, Robert C, Richard FJ. The dynamics of connexin expression, degradation and localisation are regulated by gonadotropins during the early stages of *in vitro* maturation of swine oocytes. *PLoS ONE* 2013;**8**:e68456.
- Scherer SS, Xu Y-T, Nelles E, Fischbeck K, Willecke K, Bone LJ. Connexin32-null mice develop demyelinating peripheral neuropathy. *Glia* 1998;**24**:8–20.
- Schnichels M, Worsdorfer P, Dobrowolski R, Markopoulos C, Kretz M, Schwarz G, Winterhager E, Willecke K. The Connexin31 F137L mutant mouse as a model for the human skin disease erythrokeratodermia variabilis (EKV). *Hum Mol Genet* 2007;**16**:1216–1224.
- Shin BC, Suzuki T, Matsuzaki T, Tanaka S, Kuraoka A, Shibata Y, Takata K. Immunolocalization of GLUTI and connexin 26 in the rat placenta. *Cell Tissue Res* 1996;**285**:83–89.
- Simon AM, Goodenough DA, Li E, Paul DL. Female infertility in mice lacking connexin37. *Nature* 1997;**385**:525–529.
- Simon AM, Goodenough DA, Paul DL. Mice lacking connexin40 have cardiac conduction abnormalities characteristic of atrioventricular block and bundle branch block. *Curr Biol* 1998;8:295–298.
- Simon AM, McWhorter AR, Dones JA, Jackson CL, Chen H. Heart and head defects in mice lacking pairs of connexins. Dev Biol 2004;265:369–383.
- Sin WC, Tse M, Planque N, Perbal B, Lampe PD, Naus CC. Matricellular protein CCN3 (NOV) regulates actin cytoskeleton reorganization. *J Biol Chem* 2009; **284**:29935–29944.
- Smoak BL, Writer JV, Keep LW, Cowan J, Chantelois JL. The effects of inadvertent exposure of mefloquine chemoprophylaxis on pregnancy outcomes and infants of U.S. Army servicewomen. J Infect Dis 1997;176:831–833.
- Söhl G, Willecke K. An update on connexin genes and their nomenclature in mouse and man. *Cell Commun Adhes* 2003;**10**:173–180.
- Sood A, Salih S, Roh D, Lacharme-Lora L, Parry M, Hardiman B, Keehan R, Grummer R, Winterhager E, Gokhale PJ et al. Signalling of DNA damage and cytokines across cell barriers exposed to nanoparticles depends on barrier thickness. Nat Nanotechnol 2011;6:824–833.
- Stewart MK, Gong XQ, Barr KJ, Bai D, Fishman GI, Laird DW. The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically modified mice. *Biochem J* 2013;**449**:401–413.
- Tai CJ, Kang SK, Cheng KW, Choi KC, Nathwani PS, Leung PC. Expression and regulation of P2U-purinergic receptor in human granulosa-luteal cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000;85:1591–1597.
- Teilmann SC. Differential expression and localisation of connexin-37 and connexin-43 in follicles of different stages in the 4-week-old mouse ovary. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 2005; **234**:27–35.
- Teubner B, Michel V, Pesch J, Lautermann J, Cohen-Salmon M, Söhl G, Jahnke K, Winterhager E, Herberhold C, Hardelin J-P et al. Connexin30 (Gjb6)-deficiency causes severe hearing impairment and lack of endocochlear potential. *Hum Mol Genet* 2003;12:13–21.
- Tong D, Gittens JEI, Kidder GM, Bai D. Patch clamp study reveals that the importance of connexin43-mediated gap junctional communication for ovarian folliculogenesis is strain-specific in the mouse. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2006;290:C290–C297.
- Tong D, Li TY, Naus KE, Bai D, Kidder GM. *In vivo* analysis of undocked connexin43 gap junction hemichannels in ovarian granulosa cells. *J Cell Sci* 2007; **120**:4016–4024.
- Tong D, Colley D, Thoo R, Li TY, Plante I, Laird DW, Bai D, Kidder GM. Oogenesis defects in a mutant mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. *Dis Models Mech* 2009;**2**:157–167.
- Tuomi JM, Tyml K, Jones DL. Atrial tachycardia/fibrillation in the connexin43 G60S mutant (oculodentodigital dysplasia) mouse. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2011; 300:H1402–H1411.
- Tyml K. Role of connexins in microvascular dysfunction during inflammation. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2011;89:1–12.
- Veitch GI, Gittens JEI, Shao Q, Laird DW, Kidder GM. Selective assembly of connexin37 into heterocellular gap junctions at the oocyte/granulosa cell interface. J Cell Sci 2004;117:2699–2707.

- Wang H, Dey SK. Roadmap to embryo implantation: clues from mouse models. Nat Rev Genet 2006;7:185–199.
- Wang H-X, Tong D, El-Gehani F, Tekpetey FR, Kidder GM. Connexin expression and gap junctional coupling in human cumulus cells: contribution to embryo quality. J Cell Mol Med 2009; 13:972–984.
- Wang H-X, Gillio-Meina C, Chen S, Gong X-Q, Li TY, Bai D, Kidder GM. The canonical WNT2 pathway and FSH interact to regulate gap junction assembly in mouse granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 2013;89:39.
- Webb RJ, Bains H, Cruttwell C, Carroll J. Gap-junctional communication in mouse cumulus-oocyte complexes: implications for the mechanism of meiotic maturation. *Reproduction* 2002;**123**:41–52.
- White TW. Nonredundant gap junction functions. *News Physiol Sci* 2003; **18**:95–99.
- Wigglesworth K, Lee KB, O'Brien MJ, Peng J, Matzuk MM, Eppig JJ. Bidirectional communication between oocytes and ovarian follicular somatic cells is required for meiotic arrest of mammalian oocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2013; **110**:E3723–E3729.
- Willingham-Rocky LA, Golding MC, Wright JM, Kraemer DC, Westhusin ME, Burghardt RC. Cloning of GJA1 (connexin43) and its expression in canine ovarian follicles throughout the estrous cycle. Gene Expr Patterns 2007;**7**:66–71.
- Winterhager E, Gellhaus A. The role of the CCN family of proteins in female reproduction. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2014;**71**:2299–2311.
- Winterhager E, Brümmer F, Dermietzel R, Hülser PF, Denker H-W. Gap junction formation in rabbit uterine epithelium in response to embryo recognition. *Dev Biol* 1988;**126**:203–211.
- Winterhager E, Grümmer R, Jahn E, Willecke K, Traub O. Spatial and temporal expression of connexin26 and -43 in rat endometrium during trophoblast invasion. *Dev Biol* 1993; **157**:399–409.
- Winterhager E, Kaufmann P, Grümmer R. Cell-cell-communication during placental development and possible implications for trophoblast proliferation and differentiation. *Placenta* 2000;**21** (Suppl A):S61–S68.

- Winterhager E, Grümmer R, Mavrogianis PA, Jones CJP, Hastings JM, Fazleabas AT. Connexin expression pattern in the endometrium of baboons is influenced by hormonal changes and the presence of endometriotic lesions. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2009; **15**:645–652.
- Winterhager E, Gellhaus A, Blois SM, Hill LA, Barr KJ, Kidder GM. Decidual angiogenesis and placental orientation are altered in mice heterozygous for a dominant loss-of-function *Gja1* (connexin43) mutation. *Biol Reprod* 2013; 89:111-123.
- Yeager M, Harris AL. Gap junction channel structure in the early 21st century: facts and fantasies. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 2007; **19**:521–528.
- Yu J, Wu J, Bagchi IC, Bagchi MK, Sidell N, Taylor RN. Disruption of gap junctions reduces biomarkers of decidualization and angiogenesis and increases inflammatory mediators in human endometrial stromal cell cultures. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 2011;**344**:25–34.
- Yu J, Boicea A, Barrett KL, James CO, Bagchi IC, Bagchi MK, Nezhat C, Sidell N, Taylor RN. Reduced connexin 43 in eutopic endometrium and cultured endometrial stromal cells from subjects with endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2014;**20**:260–270.
- Zhao H, Chen ZJ. Genetic association studies in female reproduction: from candidate-gene approaches to genome-wide mapping. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2013; **19**:644–654.
- Zheng-Fischhofer Q, Kibschull M, Schnichels M, Kretz M, Petrasch-Parwez E, Strotmann J, Reucher H, Lynn BD, Nagy JI, Lye SJ et al. Characterization of connexin31.1-deficient mice reveals impaired placental development. *Dev Biol* 2007;**312**:258–271.
- Zybina TG, Kaufmann P, Frank HG, Freed J, Kadyrov M, Biesterfeld S. Genome multiplication of extravillous trophoblast cells in human placenta in the course of differentiation and invasion into endometrium and myometrium. I. Dynamics of polyploidization. *Tsitologiia* 2002;**44**:1058–1067.